IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 94, 058

THIRD DISTRICT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 98-01151

ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT CASE NO. 97-14985

KESHBRO, INC., a Florida corporation, d/b/a "Stardust Motel" & HARISH GIHWALA, individually.

Petitioners,

vs.

CITY OF MIAMI, a municipal corporation And THE CITY OF MIAMI NUISANCE ABATEMENT BOARD, a Quasi-Judicial Board,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

DAVID FORESTIER

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER 12865 WEST DIXIE HIGHWAY NORTH MIAMI, FLORIDA 33161 (305) 895-2470 FLORIDA BAR # 642460

E-mail: d4sta@aol.com

STATEMENT OF CASE

1-7

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

7-8

ARGUMENT 8-31

<u>ISSUE</u> I

WHETHER THE APPELLATE COURTS INTERPRETATION OF FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS GOVERNING "TAKINGS & JUST COMPENSATION" TO INNOCENT OWNERS CONFLICTS WITH BOWEN, & LUCAS AND DEPARTS FROM ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW BY MAKING A SUA SPONTE, UNSUPPORTED FACTUAL FINDING, NOT SUPPORTED IN THE RECORD OF CRIMINAL WRONGDOING, WITHOUT DUE PROCESS AND IN THE ABSENCE OF A CRIMINAL ACCUSATION OR CONVICTION?

VI. CONCLUSION 31-32

VII. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE & FONT SIZE

33 - 34

VIII APPENDIX

CONTENTS:

Conformed copy of the Slip opinion in <u>Keshbro</u>

Copy of slip opinion in Baird

Copy of the initial NAB Notice to Appear and Complaint against Keshbro

City of Miami NAB Municipal Code Provisions Section 45.5-5

February 7, 1997 NAB Order

Transcript excerpt p.91 of June 25,1997 NAB Hearing lines 18-22

June 30 1997 Closure Order

Verified Complaint For Inverse Condemnation

Transcript excerpt p 102-04 of Jan. 29, 1997 NAB Hearing

Model Nuisance Abatement Statute

Composite Miami Herald Articles and crime statistics

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u> <u>Pages</u>

<u>Atkinson v. Powledge</u> 123 Fla. 389, 167 So. 4 (1936)

<u>City of St. Petersburg v. Baird</u>, Case No. 98-008 PCA Affm'd 2d DCA rehen denied

City of St. Petersburg, v. William A. Bowen,
675 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), rev. denied,
680 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1996), and cert. denied,
117 S.Ct. 1120 (1997)

<u>City of St. Petersburg v. Cablinnger,</u>
Case No. 98-1850 Currently pending in the Second DCA

<u>Dept. of Transportation v. Weisenfield</u>, 617 So.2d 1071 (Fla 5th DCA 1993)

Five Sky Inc. v State 131 So. 2d 36 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968)

First English Evangelical Lutheran Church, 482 U.S. 318

<u>Florio v. State</u> 119 So. 2d 305 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960)

<u>Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Dept. of Transportation,</u> 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990)

<u>Health Clubs of Jacksonville, Inc v. State</u>, 381 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)

King v. State 17 Fla. 183 (1879)

Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 505 U.S. 1003, 1017 (1992)

Mesa v. City of Miami Nuisance Abatement Board 673 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)

Mugler v. Kansas, 123 U.S. 623 (1887)

Orlando Sports Stadium v. State, 262 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1972)

Palm Beach County v. Tessler, 538 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989)

<u>PapaChristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L. Ed 2d 110 (1972)

Pennsylvania Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S 393, 415 (1922)

Pompano Horse Club Inc. v State
111 So. 2d. 801 (Fla. 1927)

<u>Schick v. Florida Dept. of Agriculture</u>, 504 So. 2d 1318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)

Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority
v. A.G.W.S. Corp., 640 So.2d 54 (Fla. 1994)

Wyche v. State of Florida, 619 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1993)

STATUTES & ORDINANCES

Section 60.05 Florida Statutes (1996)
Section 823.05 Florida Statutes (1996)
Section 823.10 Florida Statutes (1996)
Section 893.138, Florida Statutes (1995)
F.S. Chapter 796
City of Miami Municipal Code,
Code Sections 45.5-5 now 46.6-5

CONSTITUTIONS

Fifth Amendment of the Unites States Constitution

Article X, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution

MISCELLANEOUS AUTHORITIES

Ferguson, "The Evolution of the 'Nuisance Exception' to the Just Compensation Clause; From Myth to Realty," 45 <u>Hasting L.J.</u> 1539 (August, 1994).

Editorial, <u>St. Petersburg Times</u> (Sunday. August 14, 1994)

Presidents Commission On Model State Drug Laws (December 1993)

Briefs and Pleadings in the Bowen & Baird v. City of St. Petersburg case courtesy of Attorney Robert H. Willis

STATEMENT OF CASE

opinions of this Court.

This case involves the taking of private property rights without compensation. The Third DCA reversed the trial court's summary judgement ruling in favor of Petitioner's inverse condemnation complaint on the issue of liability. Despite finding that a "taking" did occur the court ruled that petitioners were not entitled to compensation. In so ruling the Third DCA recognized but departed from City of St. Petersburg v. Bowen

1 and thus created direct conflict with the Second DCA and other

Since 1988 the Petitioners Keshbro Inc., and Harish Gihwala are the fee simple owners and operators of a fifty-seven unit CBS building located at 6730 Biscayne Boulevard in the northeast sector of the City of Miami and do business as the "Stardust Motel". Harish Giwhala the owner/operator resides at the Stardust Motel with his wife and two minor children.

Biscayne Boulevard is currently undergoing gentrification and revitalization but was formerly plaqued by serious urban decay, a dearth of municipal enforcement or police resources and thus became a haven of prostitution and narcotics, which persists to this day.

(See Appendix Composite Exhibit K) Associated opportunistic street crime and serious violent crimes permeate the northeast corridor of Biscayne Blvd., Little Haiti and Liberty City.

.

¹ 675 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)

As recently as yesterday March 21, 1999 at 1:50 PM on a Sunday afternoon at 150 NE 64th Terr. in Miami and less than ten blocks away from the Stardust Motel (situated at 6730 Biscayne Blvd) a drug related drive by shooting involving automatic weapons resulted two fatalities and three wounded. One of the fatalities and the three of the wounded were innocent victims. Miami Police Chief William O'Brien was quoted in the Herald on Monday March 22, 1999 and said, "We have identified this area for both illegal gambling and drug transactions. We're taking action and will be taking action the future. It is in the midst of this hostile and violent environment that the Stardust Motel struggles daily to run a legitimate "mom and pop" business.

For more than ten years, under the current ownership the Stardust Motel has been a family run business which has consistently remained fully licensed under state and local law.

In December 1996 the City of Miami through its Nuisance Abatement Board, (hereinafter "NAB"), (promulgated pursuant to sections 45.5-5 of the Miami City Code, and enabling Florida Statute 893.138,) filed a complaint/notice of hearing against the "Stardust" alleging that the motel constituted a public nuisance by virtue of the purported use, sale and or possession of controlled substances by tenants, guests and other persons at or adjacent to the property. (Appendix C,D)

At the January 1997 hearing, the Petitioners through counsel and in a spirit of cooperation with the City and its NAB did

stipulate to a finding of Public Nuisance specifically as to the sale of controlled substances by unknown third parties at the premises. An Order to that effect, partially embodying the stipulation together with "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and some 26 points of remedial measures was entered on or about February 7, 1997. (Appendix E) Included was a limited closure of six motel rooms, for six months, as a sanction. This stipulation allowed the "Stardust" to continue the lawful operation of its motel business and to maintain an economically viable use of its property.

A alternating set of six rooms were to be closed, refurbished and then permitted to re-open by the NAB, so as to make the property more attractive to upscale clientele. The objective was to achieve a revitalization and beautification of the business. The stipulation was a joint accommodation/compromise between the City and the Stardust, with the Petitioners being fully cognizant of, and expressly reserving their constitutional rights, as articulated in the precedent of Bowen.

Between the February 7, 1997 and June 25, 1997 the NAB conducted several additional hearings. On the basis of highly suspect and legally insufficient hearsay testimony the NAB did modify its Order to further sanction the Stardust with a total closure of the premises, over the objection of counsel. The NAB expressly ordered that: "... the Stardust Motel shall be closed for the duration of this Board's jurisdiction, or until February 12,

1998. Respondents are ordered to remove all guests within five (5) days of the date of this Order." Only maintenance and security personnel were to be permitted on the property." (Appendix F,G) As a consequence of the ruling by the NAB, Keshbro was unable to put their property to any economically viable use during the six-month period.

On July 3, 1997 Keshbro Inc., filed a verified complaint for Declaratory Injunctive Relief and Inverse Condemnation. (Appendix H) Shortly thereafter Keshbro was obligated to file for bankruptcy prior to the imminent July 29, 1997 execution of the June 30, 1997 closure order, to avert foreclosure and prevent a total loss of the property and a million-dollar business investment. The bankruptcy's automatic stay, was lifted in late August 1997 permitting the circuit court to enforce the NAB order directing that the Stardust Motel close and cease business operations by 5:00 PM September 4, 1997. (Appendix G) The closure order was without prejudice to Keshbro's other remedies and inverse condemnation proceedings.

It is undeniable that Petitioners sustained business losses during the six-month closure. The "Stardust Motel" re-opened on February 27, 1998 with refurbished rooms and decor.

The material facts were not in dispute below as evidenced by the cross-motions for summary judgement and stipulated facts. On April 13, 1998, Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court Judge Amy Dean granted Keshbro Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgement as to the City of Miami's liability on the "takings" issue. In granting the

summary judgement the trial court correctly applied the existing law to the undisputed material facts and essentially found that: 1) Keshbro Inc., held a fee simple fee simple title to the property; 2) that the City of Miami filed a complaint against Keshbro through its Nuisance Abatement Board, (hereinafter "NAB," alleging that the Stardust Motel constituted a nuisance because of alleged "drug use" on the property; 3) that at a subsequent hearing the NAB ultimately modified its order, which resulted in total closure and temporary taking of all economic use of the property for nearly six-months; (in actuality the NAB's remaining jurisdiction and operative closure period was 175 days to be that Keshbro was prohibited from the conduct, precise); 4) operation or maintenance of any business or motel rental activity within the entirety of said premises for the balance of the NAB's jurisdiction.

Based upon said undisputed facts and the controlling constitutional and case law precedents Keshbro is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.

Of paramount significance to any analysis of this case is the express finding by the NAB in its conclusions of law that, "The City of Miami does not assert or imply that the owner, personally, is a party to any drug sales or illegal activities." (Appendix E) To date, neither Keshbro Inc., nor Mr. Gihwala have ever been charged with any criminal violation of F.S. Chapter 796 for procuring, deriving support from or renting space for purposes of

prostitution. Nor has the Petitioner ever been arrested, charged or prosecuted for any violations of F.S. Chapter 893 pertaining to controlled substances in general or F.S. 893.137 (7)(a)5 in particular. Yet nevertheless, the Third DCA decision in Keshbro concedes the "taking" but purports to deny compensation on the basis that the nuisance was "inextricably intertwined" with the operation of the business and "that the motel was in reality, not a motel, but rather a brothel and drug house which the owners for whatever reason, failed to stop operating on their property." Keshbro slip opinion at 8

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third DCA opinion in <u>City of Miami v. Keshbro</u> directly and irreconcilably conflicts with decisions of the Second DCA and the Florida Supreme Court. The decision furthermore permits the taking of private property for a public purpose without just compensation as required by the Fifth Amendment U.S. Constitution and Art. X sec. 6 Fla. Const. The court departed from the essential requirements of the law to impermissibly, "look beyond the limited wording of the closure order" <u>Keshbro</u> at 8. The appellate court also considered "history" beyond the six month statute of limitations, to conclude sua spopnte and without any basis in the record or the benefit of an indictment, information, arrest, criminal trial, due process, conviction or verdict of guilt,

substantiated by a jury's finding by proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that Keshbro Inc. and/or Harish Gihwala, the motel owners, were in fact operating a brothel and drug house. (Indeed if such were the case then criminal RICO statutes would govern enforcement, abatement, seizure and/or forfeiture of such a criminal enterprise) Finally, all cases relied upon by the court to escape the precedent of <u>Bowen</u> are not applicable as they concern criminal prosecutions of accused persons who were found guilty or in contempt as directly complicitous in "mala-prohibita" common law public nuisances i.e. direct participation and profit from activities such as gambling, prostitution, narcotics etc.

Additionally, the Petitioners challenge and attack the motel closure, reversal of the summary judgement, finding that a taking occurred but compensation was not justified as a denial of equal protection, being arbitrary and capricious and predicated upon extraneous and incompetent evidence unsupported by and in direct conflict with the record. Nor are such closures effective in eradicating the alleged nuisance activities.

ARGUMENT

The appellate courts interpretation of federal and state constitutional rights governing "takings & just compensation" to innocent owners conflicts with Bowen, Lucas and departs from the essential requirements of law by making a sua sponte unsupported factual finding of criminal wrongdoing without due process and in the absence of a criminal accusation, conviction, or competent evidence.

Sufficiency of the Evidence

Keshbro has at all stages of these proceedings called into scrutiny the competence, quality and sufficiency of the evidence, while the respondents consistently extol its quantity and history.

Between the February 7, 1997 signing of the Order incorporating and adopting the January 29^{th} 1997 Stipulation, and the June 30,1997 closure order, the NAB took several actions to further sanction the Stardust for events which occurred before the NAB Order was ever properly executed and perfected. Pursuant to the City Code the NAB must deliver the signed ORDER to the property owner and wait five days from signing and before enforcement jurisdiction attaches. The Order although signed on February 7, 1997 was never properly delivered to Keshbro or its counsel until March 25, 1997. Keshbro although cognizant of the stipulation objectives was never properly advised as to the operative effective date of the order. Thus Keshbro was denied due process and notice of the actual commencement date of the NAB one-year jurisdiction and the associated operative period for the enforcement provisions. (See, Mesa v. City of Miami Nuisance Abatement Board, wherein the Third District Court of Appeals instructed Miami that, "Nuisance Abatement Boards, like all quasi judicial boards must provide proper notice and opportunity to be heard before board takes action which affects the interests of parties before it.") were the subjects of several unsuccessful, interrupted or abandoned

² 673 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)

(due to the bankruptcy) collateral appeals, petitions for Writs of Prohibition and injunctive relief.

Over the strenuous objections of counsel the NAB proceeded to modify and further sanction the Stardust with additional room closures for alleged events that occurred at the property on February 4, 1997, before the Stipulation ever went into effect.

The NAB furthermore relied upon the testimony of casual observations by Sal Patranzio, a local resident. Mr. Patranzio testified that, on February 17, 1997 he observed nothing more egregious than what he concluded to be two prostitutes, one black, one white hanging on the Stardust fence, while, two black gentlemen across the street seemed to use hand gestures as far as whom to approach and what to do with those gentlemen³ At other times the testimony of various witnesses recounted mere allegations that known prostitutes were detained in and around the Stardust, or that a prostitute may have been arrested at another location, but found to be in possession of Stardust room key or that a prostitute told an undercover officer she could or could not get a room at the Stardust.

Such bare allegations do not support the quantum leap in logic or reason that the motel functioned as a bordello. There was not one documented instance of a true prostitution arrest at the Stardust. In point of fact Lt. Aguirre the police commander for the northeast Neighborhood Enhancement Team (NET) and a principal

³ (AR 1176-1178 or pages 42 –44 Transcript of February 26, 1997 H earing)

City witness testified at the initial evidentiary hearing stated that, "I strongly don't think prostitution activity per se is going on inside that motel." (emphasis mine) Nevertheless, based on this caliber of speculative, highly suspect and unreliable testimony from biased civilians and community residents / activists, the NAB culminated with an order totally closing the entire motel.

The mere observation or presence of a person(s) suspected of being a prostitute or even the sighting of someone who has in fact been convicted of prostitution, in a public or private place, without more does not even amount to sufficient probable cause to arrest. Therefore the City / NAB should have been be hard pressed to accuse the owners of the premises where the alleged observation occurred, of promoting a prostitution-related public nuisance. The NAB should never have admitted or relied upon such equivocal testimony.

Even known prostitutes have a right to live and reside somewhere. What is prohibited under Florida law is that they actually engage in direct acts of or solicitation for prostitution. No such criminal acts were ever pled, alleged or testified to in the complaint or at the hearing. (See Notice of Hearing / Complaint and Transcript of Hearing Jan. 27, 1997.) See also Wyche v. State of Florida, wherein Florida Supreme Court Justice Barkett, held that a Tampa City ordinance making it unlawful to loiter in a

⁴ (Exhibit H Transcript of January 29 1996 Hearing at pages 102-104)

 $[\]frac{5}{6}$ 619 So. 2d. 231 (Fla. 1993)

manner and under circumstances manifesting a purpose of engaging in acts of prostitution was unconstitutional.

In expounding upon its decision the Wyche Court stated that "The First Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 4 of the Florida Constitution protect the rights of individuals to express themselves in a variety of ways. The constitutions protect not only speech and the written word, but also conduct intended to communicate. (citations omitted) Further, the First Amendment and article I, section 5 of the Florida Constitution protect the rights of individuals to associate with whom they please and to assemble with others for political or social purposes. (citations omitted) When law makers attempt to restrict or burden fundamental and basic rights such as these, the laws must not only be directed toward a legitimate public purpose, but they must be drawn as narrowly as possible. (citations omitted) As the United States Supreme Court has noted, because First Amendment freedoms need breathing space to survive, governments may regulate in the area only with narrow specificity. (Citations omitted) Put another way, statutes cannot be so broad that they prohibit constitutionally protected conduct as well as unprotected conduct. (emphasis added)

The Tampa ordinance, by potentially applying to such conduct as talking and waving to other people, clearly implicates protected freedoms. The ordinance limits the rights of those who have been previously convicted of prostitution to engage in non-criminal activities. ordinance The suggests that incriminating when a "known prostitute" "repeatedly beckons to, stops or attempts to stop or engages passers-by in conversation or repeatedly stops, or attempts to stop motor vehicle operators by hailing, waiving of arms, or any bodily gesture. Hailing a cab or a friend, chatting on a public street, and simply strolling aimlessly are time honored pastimes in our society and are clearly protected under Florida as well as federal law. Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S. Ct. 839, 31 L. Ed 2d 110 (1972). All Florida citizens enjoy the inherent right to window shop, saunter down a sidewalk and wave to friends and passersby with no fear of arrest. A formerly convicted prostitute engaging in these activities however, risks prosecution under the ordinance for loitering, and the risk of arrest certainly would deter the exercise of these rights. (Citations omitted.) The United States Supreme Court has made clear that loitering, wandering, sauntering and other idle activities are not in and of themselves unlawful.6

 $[\]frac{6}{}$ Wyche at 234-237

Nevertheless without any direct substantive proof to support allegations of actual prostitution at the Stardust the NAB expressly ordered that:

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