# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 94,058
District Court Case No.: 98-01151
L.T. CASE NO. 97-14985

KESHBRO, INC., a Florida corporation, d/b/a Stardust Motel; and Harish Gihwala, individually,

Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF MIAMI, a municipal corporation and THE CITY OF MIAMI NUISANCE ABATEMENT BOARD, a Quasi-Judicial Board

Respondents.

# RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Jose Fernandez, Esq.
City of Miami Assistant Attorney
444 S.W. 2 Avenue, Suite 945
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 416-1800
and
SWEETAPPLE, BROEKER & VARKAS
Attorneys for Respondents
66 West Flagler Street
Suite 1000, Concord Building
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 374-5623

By:	
	PAUL B. FELTMAN

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

2. Petitioners have not suffered a deprivation of all beneficial use of their property as it was used as their home during the temporary closure and the property is zoned for approximately sixty (60) other uses

In analyzing the impact of the Board's actions on the Petitioners, they are living on the property, the property is zoned for a significant number of other uses, and the closure was only effective for a six month time period. Testimony taken before the Board on January 29, 1997, and pleadings before the trial court reveal that Mr. Gihwala lives with his wife and children at the motel in four (4) of the fifty-four (54) rooms on the site. AR 1198. The use of seven and one-half (7 ½%) percent of the premises as a home shows that the property was being put to an economically beneficial use during the temporary closure. Further, as set forth in the affidavit of Juan C. Gonzalez, Chief Zoning Inspector and Acting Zoning Administrator for the City of Miami Zoning Department, the property is currently zoned C-1 (restricted commercial) with a SD-9 overlay (special district). AR 1222. The property has approximately sixty (60) other potential uses. AR 1222-1226. The cost of a new

certificate of use to run an alternative business is merely \$250.00. *Id.* Therefore, Petitioners are using the property as a home and can make use of the property for a myriad of different business purposes. In case after case analyzing takings issues, if an alternative use is available, even if it is not the best or most profitable use, then a taking has not occurred. *Lucas*, 505 U.S. at 1019, 1030. Therefore, under the two (2) elements of *Penn Central* used to analyze the economic impact of a regulation weighed against the other element regarding the harm that the Board is attempting to prevent, the prevention of the illegal activity outweighs the economic impact on the Petitioners. Therefore, if this Court determines that a total take did not occur it appropriately rules that the character of the government action in this matter outweighs the economic impact on the Petitioners or, at the very least, remand this matter for consideration of those issues on the evidence.

IX. THE BOWEN CASE BEING RELIED UPON BY PETITIONERS IN THEIR CLAIM FOR COMPENSATION FOR AN ALLEGED TAKING GROSSLY MISREADS FEDERAL AND STATE LAW ON THE ISSUE OF TAKINGS

The Petitioners rely upon the case of *City of St. Petersburg v. Bowen*, 675 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), for the proposition that the City of Miami must pay compensation for the temporary closing of the Stardust Motel. The Petitioners' claim fails as: i) *Bowen* grossly misreads Federal and Florida law on the issue of takings; ii) Florida law allows for the closure of the property without compensation; and iii)

the facts of *Bowen* are not on point with the facts in this case.

A. Bowen is flawed in its analysis

Petitioners' reliance on *Bowen* spotlights the Second District Court of Appeals' flawed analysis.

1. Investment Backed Expectations Pursuant to the Nuisance Exception

Petitioners make much of their lost investment backed expectations relying on the reasoning of *Bowen*. PB 12. However as set forth in *The Mill* case, government can permanently or temporarily remove a landowner's investment backed expectation for purposes of abating a nuisance and when it does so it is a non-compensable taking. Id. at 1001 - 1002; Keshbro, 717 So. 2d at 604. This property had been before the Board before in 1992 and closed for a period of six (6) months. AR 1103. It came before the Board on January 29, 1997, after numerous incidents occurred on the property, and stipulated that the property was a nuisance. See Statement of Facts, Those incidents continued in spite of the Board's jurisdiction over the property for six (6) months and the Board's incremental attempts to abate the nuisance activities. The Board did work with the Petitioners but the Petitioners failed or otherwise refused to abate the nuisance activities on their property. Although the Petitioners claim they were left with no available uses for the property they continued to live in the motel with their family.

The Petitioners ignored all of the Board's Orders. Unlike Bowen the orders

were incremental and only attempted to close a few rooms. It was not until it was obvious that in addition to wilfully and flagrantly ignoring the orders of the Board regarding the closure of rooms and failure to abate the nuisance activity that the Board held a hearing in June of 1997 and ordered the property closed entirely for six (6) months. The closure of the property is a non-compensable taking. *Keshbro*, 717 So. 2d at 604; *The Mill*, 887 P.2d at 1001 - 1002.

If the rule of law in *Bowen* is followed by this Court then the following hypothetical could occur: An owner of a manufacturing plant on the edge of the Everglades lives with his wife and family on the curtilage of the plant. He rents the plant to a paper manufacturer. The paper manufacturer deposits hundreds of pounds of pollutants into the Everglades every day via a drainage pipe which is visible. The "innocent property owner" knows that the polluting is occurring but does not attempt to abate the nuisance. If the State of Florida or Miami-Dade County wanted to shut the plant down, they would do so at their peril because the *Bowen* court's rationale would require payment for the abatement of the nuisance. That is not a sound proposition of law and is contrary to the law of takings in the State of Florida and the United States. Government should not have to pay compensation because it has had to implement a pre-existing limitation on the use of property by interfering with its use temporarily to remove a criminal public nuisance that the government did not A different conclusion makes the Takings Clause do something never create.

intended, namely, require government to compensate a property owner because of his mistakes. *See Zeman*, 552 N.W.2d at 548-554.

2. Bowen failed to separate economic issues from nuisance issues

Bowen has further flaws in its analysis. In Bowen the tenants were using drugs on the property. 675 So. 2d at 627. Incredibly, the court of appeals stated: "In the present case, there is no common law nuisance being prevented by the closure. The prohibited activity was any use of the apartment building." Id. at 631. The court confused the takings law analysis by not separating the economic use issues from the nuisance/police power issues. See Sections VI - VIII, supra. In economic terms, the "plight" of this motel owner is less compelling than that of a property owner whose tenant uses the property in a manner which pollutes the groundwater or the soil. Applicable law imposes strict liability upon the "innocent" owner, as well as the polluter, as the owner is the first line of defense to prevent pollution on the property. See, e.g. Seaboard Systems Railroad, Inc. v. Clemente, etc., et. al., 467 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). When the "economic analysis" in *Bowen* is compared with the economic policies upheld in Seaboard and The Mill, it appears clear that the analysis in *Bowen* is mistaken. Those mistakes have lead to a poorly reasoned opinion which should not be followed by this Court and applied to the facts in this case.

3. Inextricably intertwined

Unlike Bowen the Third District Court of Appeals correctly found that: "The

record shows that the prostitution and drug-related activities were inextricably intertwined with the motel". *Keshbro*, 717 So. 2d at 604. The inextricable intertwining of proscribed uses with other, valid, uses was the basis of the court of appeals' reasoning that *Bowen* did not conflict with this case. *Id.* at fn. 8; *see also*, Section VII C, *supra*; AR 1109-1113, Affidavit of Chief Brooks on inextricably intertwined proscribed and valid uses. Therefore, this case is factually different than *Bowen*. *Keshbro*, 717 So. 2d at 604 n. 8. To the extent that this Court agrees with *Bowen* it should be limited to the facts of that case i.e. first time offender, limited instance of drug activity, full punishment immediately etc. The dicta which goes beyond the limited holding should be disapproved by this Court.

### 4. Other errors in Bowen

The *Bowen* decision's rationale does not withstand scrutiny. The *Bowen* court:

i) failed to distinguish between land use regulation for the common good and land use regulation used to abate a nuisance; ii) failed to recognize that title to property never included the right to permit criminal conduct to occur thereon; iii) failed to even examine the title possessed by the property owner; iv) eliminated the Nuisance Exception to the Takings Clause; and v) allows a property owner to profit from its own reckless failure to control criminal conduct which he has knowledge of. *Bowen* should not be followed by this Court.

X. THE TRIAL COURT ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON UNSWORN AND UNSUBSTANTIATED CLAIMS OF THE PETITIONERS AND, THEREFORE, ITS ORDER IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT

The trial court granted Petitioners' motion for summary judgment based upon an alleged taking of their property. That claim fails as, given all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the Respondents, Petitioners have failed to carry their burden of proof by either rebutting the defense of the Nuisance Exception or the elements set forth in *Penn Central*. In Petitioners' Brief at 5, they claim that the trial court essentially found:

1) Keshbro Inc., held a fee simple fee simple (sic) title to the property; 2) that the City of Miami Filed a complaint against Keshbro through its Nuisance Abatement Board, (hereinafter "NAB," alleging that the Stardust Motel constituted a nuisance because of alleged "drug use" on the property; 3) that at a subsequent hearing the NAB ultimately modified its order, which resulted in total closure and temporary taking of all economic use of the property for nearly six-months; (in actuality the NAB's remaining jurisdiction and operative closure period was 175 days to be precise); 4) that Keshbro was prohibited from the conduct, operation or maintenance of any business or motel rental activity within the entirety of said premises for the balance of the NAB's jurisdiction.

AB 5-6. While the Respondents do not disagree with some of the facts set forth above, the trial court's order made no such findings, AR 1001-1002, and Petitioners are simply incorrect in their assertion. *See* Section XI, *infra*.

The movant for summary judgment bears the burden of showing, by competent evidence, the nonexistence of any question of material fact. The movant's proof must be conclusive, such that all reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the

opposing party are overcome. *Landers v. Milton*, 370 So. 2d 368, 370 (Fla.1979); *Holl v. Talcott*, 191 So. 2d 40, 43-44 (Fla.1966); and *Lenhal Realty, Inc. v. Transamerica Commercial Finance Corp.*, 615 So. 2d 207, 208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). "[I]f the record raises even the slightest doubt that an issue might exist, summary judgment is improper." *Holland v. Verheul*, 583 So. 2d 788, 789 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

The trial court ignored the law on the issue of nuisance and the Takings Clause. See Section VII, A, supra. The Petitioners failed to overcome the Respondents' defense pursuant to the Nuisance Exception. This coupled with the fact that the Petitioners stipulated that the property was a nuisance should have resulted in a ruling in favor of the Board. Lucas, 505 U.S. at 1029; Keshbro, 717 So. 2d at 603; The Mill. 887 P.2d at 1001-1003.

Even if the trial court determined that the Nuisance Exception did not apply in this matter and rather based its ruling upon *Penn Central*, it failed to review the evidence before it as required pursuant to *Penn Central*. Under *Penn Central*, a court considering a takings claim must review: i) the economic impact of the regulation on the person(s) suffering the loss; ii) the extent to which the regulation interferes with distinct investment backed expectations; and iii) the character of the government action to assess whether the complained of action effected a taking of private property for public use. *Penn Central*, 438 U.S. at 124. Petitioners have the burden regarding all of the elements of the *Penn Central* analysis as there is no

presumption that a taking has occurred.

Here, Petitioners submitted virtually no evidence. Respondents submitted a mountain of unrebutted evidence. At the very least for Respondents there was a genuine factual dispute as to whether the character of the government action outweighed the economic impact on Petitioners and their reasonable investment expectations. The only evidence submitted by the Petitioners in support of their motion for summary judgment was a conclusory affidavit of Harish Gihwala. AR 1227. Nowhere do the Petitioners argue the character of the Board's action other than to make the conclusory allegation that crime still existed in the neighborhood after they were closed. Nowhere do they discuss the economic impact on their property except to say they were forced to file bankruptcy. On that point, Petitioners assert that their declaration of bankruptcy on July 27, 1997, was a result of the Board's Order of Closure on June 30, 1997. This strains credulity as the property was not closed until September 3, 1997, over one (1) month after the bankruptcy petition was filed. The bankruptcy action, like all others filed after the January 29, 1997 hearing before the Board, was simply an abuse of judicial process to frustrate the Board's authority. AR 1056-1057. This was in stark contrast to the voluminous evidence submitted by the Board as outlined in its Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, AR 1244.

The trial court erred in entering summary judgment on the issue of liability as

all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the Board show that: i) the Nuisance Exception applies in this matter and the closure was a non-compensable taking; or, alternatively, ii) Petitioners failed to carry their burden of proof under the three (3) elements of *Penn Central*. Therefore, this Court affirms the decision of the Third District Court of Appeals, or alternatively, remands this matter to the trial court for a further proceeding including trial of the issues.

XI. PETITIONERS' BRIEF IS REPLETE WITH ALLEGATIONS AND FACTS NOT IN THE RECORD BEFORE THIS COURT OR THAT ARE OTHERWISE FALSE

Petitioners do not contest that their property was a nuisance and they stipulated that it was during the January 29, 1997 Board hearing. PB 1. Petitioners do not contest the facts as previously set forth in the Respondents' brief filed with the Third District Court of Appeals which show the large number of incidents of crack cocaine sales, powder cocaine sales and prostitution that took place on their property leading up to the closure by the Board on June 30, 1997. See Statement of Facts, supra. Those facts evidence rampant drug and prostitution related criminal activity on the Petitioners' property, all within one thousand (1000) feet of Morningside Elementary School, over a period of at least ten (10) years. Id. Rather than dispute the facts as set forth by the Respondents, Petitioners merely seek to add items from outside the record or as in the case of referencing the trial court's order incorrectly state facts to suit whatever argument they are making at a particular time in their Brief.

#### Point 1-

As to when the Board's jurisdiction "commenced" for purposes of the one (1) year period, PB at 9, the issue has nothing to do with the fact that Petitioners entered into a stipulation before the Board on January 29, 1997, a copy of which was mailed to them, and thereafter there was drug and prostitution activity on the premises in February (two incidents), March 11 (three incidents), April 10 (three incidents), and May 27 (one incident). AR 1186-1195. Also, a prohibition action was brought on this point in the Circuit Court in and for Miami-Dade County and dismissed and not appealed. Therefore the argument is waived.

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